# UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Previously Published Works

# Title

Improved limits on dark matter annihilation in the Sun with the 79-string IceCube detector and implications for supersymmetry

# Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/8df6843b

# Journal

Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2016(04)

**ISSN** 1475-7516

# **Authors**

Aartsen, MG Abraham, K Ackermann, M <u>et al.</u>

**Publication Date** 

2016-04-01

# DOI

10.1088/1475-7516/2016/04/022

Peer reviewed

# Improved limits on dark matter annihilation in the Sun with the 79-string IceCube detector and implications for supersymmetry

The IceCube Collaboration



M. G. Aartsen,<sup>2</sup> K. Abraham,<sup>33</sup> M. Ackermann,<sup>50</sup> J. Adams,<sup>16</sup> J. A. Aguilar,<sup>12</sup> M. Ahlers,<sup>30</sup> M. Ahrens,<sup>40</sup> D. Altmann,<sup>24</sup> T. Anderson,<sup>46</sup> I. Ansseau,<sup>12</sup> G. Anton,<sup>24</sup> M. Archinger,<sup>31</sup> C. Arguelles,  $^{14}$  T. C. Arlen,  $^{46}$  J. Auffenberg,  $^1$  X. Bai,  $^{38}$ S. W. Barwick,<sup>27</sup> V. Baum,<sup>31</sup> R. Bay,<sup>7</sup> J. J. Beatty,<sup>18,19</sup> J. Becker Tjus,<sup>10</sup> K.-H. Becker,<sup>49</sup> E. Beiser,<sup>30</sup> S. BenZvi,<sup>47</sup> P. Berghaus,<sup>50</sup> D. Berley,<sup>17</sup> E. Bernardini,<sup>50</sup> A. Bernhard,<sup>33</sup> D. Z. Besson,<sup>28</sup> G. Binder,<sup>8,7</sup> D. Bindig,<sup>49</sup> M. Bissok,<sup>1</sup> E. Blaufuss,<sup>17</sup> J. Blumenthal,<sup>1</sup> D. J. Boersma,<sup>48</sup> C. Bohm,<sup>40</sup> M. Börner,<sup>21</sup> F. Bos,<sup>10</sup> D. Bose,<sup>42</sup> S. Böser,<sup>31</sup> O. Botner,<sup>48</sup> J. Braun,<sup>30</sup> L. Brayeur,<sup>13</sup> H.-P. Bretz,<sup>50</sup> N. Buzinsky,<sup>23</sup> J. Casey,<sup>5</sup> M. Casier,<sup>13</sup> E. Cheung,<sup>17</sup> D. Chirkin,<sup>30</sup> A. Christov,<sup>25</sup> K. Clark,<sup>43</sup> L. Classen,<sup>24</sup> S. Coenders,<sup>33</sup> G. H. Collin,<sup>14</sup> J. M. Conrad,<sup>14</sup> D. F. Cowen,  $^{46,45}$  A. H. Cruz Silva,  $^{50}$  M. Danninger,  $^{40,c,f}$ J. Daughhetee,<sup>5</sup> J. C. Davis,<sup>18</sup> M. Day,<sup>30</sup> J. P. A. M. de André,<sup>22</sup> C. De Clercq,<sup>13</sup> E. del Pino Rosendo,<sup>31</sup> H. Dembinski,<sup>34</sup> S. De Ridder,<sup>26</sup> P. Desiati,<sup>30</sup> K. D. de Vries,<sup>13</sup> G. de Wasseige,<sup>13</sup> M. de With,<sup>9</sup> T. DeYoung,<sup>22</sup> J. C. Díaz-Vélez,<sup>30</sup> V. di Lorenzo,<sup>31</sup> J. P. Dumm,<sup>40</sup> M. Dunkman,<sup>46</sup> B. Eberhardt,<sup>31</sup> J. Edsjö,<sup>40</sup> T. Ehrhardt,<sup>31</sup> B. Eichmann,<sup>10</sup> S. Euler,<sup>48</sup> P. A. Evenson,<sup>34</sup> S. Fahey,<sup>30</sup> A. R. Fazely,<sup>6</sup> J. Feintzeig,<sup>30</sup> J. Felde,<sup>17</sup> K. Filimonov,<sup>7</sup> C. Finley,<sup>40</sup> S. Flis,<sup>40</sup> C.-C. Fösig,<sup>31</sup> T. Fuchs,<sup>21</sup> T. K. Gaisser,<sup>34</sup> R. Gaior,<sup>15</sup> J. Gallagher,<sup>29</sup> L. Gerhardt,<sup>8,7</sup> K. Ghorbani,<sup>30</sup> D. Gier,<sup>1</sup>

L. Gladstone,<sup>30</sup> M. Glagla,<sup>1</sup> T. Glüsenkamp,<sup>50</sup> A. Goldschmidt,<sup>8</sup> G. Golup,<sup>13</sup> J. G. Gonzalez,<sup>34</sup> D. Góra,<sup>50</sup> D. Grant,<sup>23</sup> Z. Griffith,<sup>30</sup> A. Groß,<sup>33</sup> C. Ha,<sup>8,7</sup> C. Haack,<sup>1</sup> A. Haj Ismail,<sup>26</sup> A. Hallgren,<sup>48</sup> F. Halzen,<sup>30</sup> E. Hansen,<sup>20</sup> B. Hansmann,<sup>1</sup> K. Hanson,<sup>30</sup> D. Hebecker,<sup>9</sup> D. Heereman,<sup>12</sup> K. Helbing,<sup>49</sup> R. Hellauer,<sup>17</sup> S. Hickford,<sup>49</sup> J. Hignight,<sup>22</sup> G. C. Hill,<sup>2</sup> K. D. Hoffman,<sup>17</sup> R. Hoffmann,<sup>49</sup> K. Holzapfel,<sup>33</sup> A. Homeier,<sup>11</sup> K. Hoshina,<sup>30,a</sup> F. Huang,<sup>46</sup> M. Huber,<sup>33</sup> W. Huelsnitz,<sup>17</sup> P. O. Hulth,<sup>40</sup> K. Hultqvist,<sup>40</sup> S. In,<sup>42</sup> A. Ishihara,<sup>15</sup> E. Jacobi,<sup>50</sup> G. S. Japaridze,<sup>4</sup> M. Jeong,  $^{42}$  K. Jero,  $^{30}$  B. J. P. Jones,  $^{14}$  M. Jurkovic,  $^{33}$ A. Kappes,<sup>24</sup> T. Karg,<sup>50</sup> A. Karle,<sup>30</sup> U. Katz,<sup>24</sup> M. Kauer,<sup>30,35</sup> A. Keivani,<sup>46</sup> J. L. Kelley,<sup>30</sup> J. Kemp,<sup>1</sup> A. Kheirandish,<sup>30</sup> J. Kiryluk,<sup>41</sup> S. R. Klein,<sup>8,7</sup> G. Kohnen,<sup>32</sup> R. Koirala,<sup>34</sup> H. Kolanoski,<sup>9</sup> R. Konietz,<sup>1</sup> L. Köpke,<sup>31</sup> C. Kopper,<sup>23</sup> S. Kopper,<sup>49</sup> D. J. Koskinen,<sup>20</sup> M. Kowalski,<sup>9,50</sup> K. Krings,<sup>33</sup> G. Kroll,<sup>31</sup> M. Kroll,<sup>10</sup> G. Krückl,<sup>31</sup> J. Kunnen,<sup>13</sup> N. Kurahashi,<sup>37</sup> T. Kuwabara,<sup>15</sup> M. Labare,<sup>26</sup> J. L. Lanfranchi,<sup>46</sup> M. J. Larson,<sup>20</sup> M. Lesiak-Bzdak,<sup>41</sup> M. Leuermann,<sup>1</sup> J. Leuner,<sup>1</sup> L. Lu,<sup>15</sup> J. Lünemann,<sup>13</sup> J. Madsen,<sup>39</sup> G. Maggi,<sup>13</sup> K. B. M. Mahn,<sup>22</sup> M. Mandelartz,<sup>10</sup> R. Maruyama,<sup>35</sup> K. Mase,<sup>15</sup> H. S. Matis,<sup>8</sup> R. Maunu,<sup>17</sup> F. McNally,<sup>30</sup> K. Meagher,<sup>12</sup> M. Medici,<sup>20</sup> M. Meier,<sup>21</sup> A. Meli,<sup>26</sup> T. Menne,<sup>21</sup> G. Merino,<sup>30</sup> T. Meures,<sup>12</sup> S. Miarecki,<sup>8,7</sup> E. Middell,<sup>50</sup> L. Mohrmann,<sup>50</sup> T. Montaruli,<sup>25</sup> R. Morse,<sup>30</sup> R. Nahnhauer,<sup>50</sup> U. Naumann,<sup>49</sup> G. Neer,<sup>22</sup> H. Niederhausen,<sup>41</sup> S. C. Nowicki,<sup>23</sup> D. R. Nygren,<sup>8</sup> A. Obertacke Pollmann,<sup>49</sup> A. Olivas,<sup>17</sup> A. Omairat,<sup>49</sup> A. O'Murchadha,<sup>12</sup> T. Palczewski,<sup>44</sup> H. Pandya,<sup>34</sup> D. V. Pankova,<sup>46</sup> L. Paul,<sup>1</sup> J. A. Pepper,<sup>44</sup> C. Pérez de los Heros,<sup>48</sup> C. Pfendner,<sup>18</sup> D. Pieloth,<sup>21</sup> E. Pinat,<sup>12</sup> J. Posselt,<sup>49</sup> P. B. Price,<sup>7</sup> G. T. Przybylski,<sup>8</sup> M. Quinnan,<sup>46</sup> C. Raab,<sup>12</sup> L. Rädel,<sup>1</sup> M. Rameez,<sup>25</sup> K. Rawlins,<sup>3</sup> R. Reimann,<sup>1</sup> M. Relich,<sup>15</sup> E. Resconi,<sup>33</sup> W. Rhode,<sup>21</sup> M. Richman,<sup>37</sup> S. Richter,<sup>30</sup> **B.** Riedel,  $^{23}$  **S.** Robertson,  $^{2}$  **M.** Rongen,  $^{1}$  **C.** Rott,  $^{42}$  **T.** Ruhe,  $^{21}$ D. Ryckbosch,<sup>26</sup> L. Sabbatini,<sup>30</sup> H.-G. Sander,<sup>31</sup> A. Sandrock,<sup>21</sup> J. Sandroos,<sup>31</sup> S. Sarkar,<sup>20,36</sup> C. Savage,<sup>40</sup> K. Schatto,<sup>31</sup> M. Schimp,<sup>1</sup> P. Schlunder,<sup>21</sup> T. Schmidt,<sup>17</sup> S. Schoenen,<sup>1</sup> S. Schöneberg,<sup>10</sup> A. Schönwald,<sup>50</sup> L. Schulte,<sup>11</sup> L. Schumacher,<sup>1</sup> P. Scott,  $^{d,f}$  D. Seckel,  $^{34}$  S. Seunarine,  $^{39}$  H. Silverwood,  $^{16,e}$ D. Soldin,<sup>49</sup> M. Song,<sup>17</sup> G. M. Spiczak,<sup>39</sup> C. Spiering,<sup>50</sup> M. Stahlberg.<sup>1</sup> M. Stamatikos.<sup>18,b</sup> T. Stanev.<sup>34</sup> A. Stasik.<sup>50</sup>

A. Steuer,<sup>31</sup> T. Stezelberger,<sup>8</sup> R. G. Stokstad,<sup>8</sup> A. Stößl,<sup>50</sup>
R. Ström,<sup>48</sup> N. L. Strotjohann,<sup>50</sup> G. W. Sullivan,<sup>17</sup> M. Sutherland,<sup>18</sup>
H. Taavola,<sup>48</sup> I. Taboada,<sup>5</sup> J. Tatar,<sup>8,7</sup> S. Ter-Antonyan,<sup>6</sup>
A. Terliuk,<sup>50</sup> G. Tešić,<sup>46</sup> S. Tilav,<sup>34</sup> P. A. Toale,<sup>44</sup> M. N. Tobin,<sup>30</sup>
S. Toscano,<sup>13</sup> D. Tosi,<sup>30</sup> M. Tselengidou,<sup>24</sup> A. Turcati,<sup>33</sup>
E. Unger,<sup>48</sup> M. Usner,<sup>50</sup> S. Vallecorsa,<sup>25</sup> J. Vandenbroucke,<sup>30</sup>
N. van Eijndhoven,<sup>13</sup> S. Vanheule,<sup>26</sup> J. van Santen,<sup>50</sup>
J. Veenkamp,<sup>33</sup> M. Vehring,<sup>1</sup> M. Voge,<sup>11</sup> M. Vraeghe,<sup>26</sup>
C. Walck,<sup>40</sup> A. Wallace,<sup>2</sup> M. Wallraff,<sup>1</sup> N. Wandkowsky,<sup>30</sup>
Ch. Weaver,<sup>23</sup> C. Wendt,<sup>30</sup> S. Westerhoff,<sup>30</sup> B. J. Whelan,<sup>2</sup>
K. Wiebe,<sup>31</sup> C. H. Wiebusch,<sup>1</sup> L. Wille,<sup>30</sup> D. R. Williams,<sup>44</sup>
L. Wills,<sup>37</sup> H. Wissing,<sup>17</sup> M. Wolf,<sup>40</sup> T. R. Wood,<sup>23</sup> K. Woschnagg,<sup>7</sup>
D. L. Xu,<sup>30</sup> X. W. Xu,<sup>6</sup> Y. Xu,<sup>41</sup> J. P. Yanez,<sup>50</sup> G. Yodh,<sup>27</sup>

 $^1\mathrm{III}.$  Physikalisches Institut, RWTH Aachen University, D-52056 Aachen, Germany

- <sup>2</sup>Department of Physics, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, 5005, Australia
- $^{3}\mathrm{Dept.}$  of Physics and Astronomy, University of Alaska Anchorage, 3211 Providence Dr., Anchorage, AK 99508, USA
- $^4\mathrm{CTSPS},$  Clark-Atlanta University, Atlanta, GA 30314, USA
- <sup>5</sup>School of Physics and Center for Relativistic Astrophysics, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA 30332, USA
- $^6\mathrm{Dept.}$  of Physics, Southern University, Baton Rouge, LA 70813, USA
- <sup>7</sup>Dept. of Physics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA
- $^{8}\mathrm{Lawrence}$ Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA
- <sup>9</sup>Institut für Physik, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, D-12489 Berlin, Germany

<sup>10</sup>Fakultät für Physik & Astronomie, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, D-44780 Bochum, Germany

<sup>11</sup>Physikalisches Institut, Universität Bonn, Nussallee 12, D-53115 Bonn, Germany

<sup>12</sup>Université Libre de Bruxelles, Science Faculty CP230, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium

<sup>13</sup>Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Dienst ELEM, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium

<sup>14</sup>Dept. of Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA

<sup>15</sup>Dept. of Physics, Chiba University, Chiba 263-8522, Japan

<sup>16</sup>Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, University of Canterbury, Private Bag 4800, Christchurch, New Zealand

- <sup>17</sup>Dept. of Physics, University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742, USA
- <sup>18</sup>Dept. of Physics and Center for Cosmology and Astro-Particle Physics, Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210, USA
- $^{19}\mathrm{Dept.}$  of Astronomy, Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210, USA

 $^{20}\mathrm{Niels}$ Bohr Institute, University of Copenhagen, DK-2100 Copenhagen, Denmark

<sup>21</sup>Dept. of Physics, TU Dortmund University, D-44221 Dortmund, Germany

 $^{22}\mbox{Dept.}$  of Physics and Astronomy, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824, USA

<sup>23</sup>Dept. of Physics, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G 2E1

- <sup>24</sup>Erlangen Centre for Astroparticle Physics, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, D-91058 Erlangen, Germany
- $^{25}$ Département de physique nucléaire et corpusculaire, Université de Genève, CH-1211 Genève, Switzerland
- <sup>26</sup>Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, University of Gent, B-9000 Gent, Belgium
- <sup>27</sup>Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, University of California, Irvine, CA 92697, USA
- <sup>28</sup>Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, University of Kansas, Lawrence, KS 66045, USA
- <sup>29</sup>Dept. of Astronomy, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI 53706, USA
- <sup>30</sup>Dept. of Physics and Wisconsin IceCube Particle Astrophysics Center, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI 53706, USA
- <sup>31</sup>Institute of Physics, University of Mainz, Staudinger Weg 7, D-55099 Mainz, Germany
- $^{32}$ Université de Mons, 7000 Mons, Belgium
- <sup>33</sup>Technische Universität München, D-85748 Garching, Germany
- <sup>34</sup>Bartol Research Institute and Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, University of Delaware, Newark, DE 19716, USA
- <sup>35</sup>Dept. of Physics, Yale University, New Haven, CT 06520, USA
- <sup>36</sup>Dept. of Physics, University of Oxford, 1 Keble Road, Oxford OX1 3NP, UK
- <sup>37</sup>Dept. of Physics, Drexel University, 3141 Chestnut Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA
- $^{38}\mathrm{Physics}$  Department, South Dakota School of Mines and Technology, Rapid City, SD 57701, USA
- <sup>39</sup>Dept. of Physics, University of Wisconsin, River Falls, WI 54022, USA
- <sup>40</sup>Oskar Klein Centre and Dept. of Physics, Stockholm University, SE-10691 Stockholm, Sweden
- <sup>41</sup>Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY 11794-3800, USA
- <sup>42</sup>Dept. of Physics, Sungkyunkwan University, Suwon 440-746, Korea
- <sup>43</sup>Dept. of Physics, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5S 1A7
- <sup>44</sup>Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa, AL 35487, USA
- <sup>45</sup>Dept. of Astronomy and Astrophysics, Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA 16802, USA
- <sup>46</sup>Dept. of Physics, Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA 16802, USA
- <sup>47</sup>Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, University of Rochester, Rochester, NY 14627, USA
- <sup>48</sup>Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, Uppsala University, Box 516, S-75120 Uppsala, Sweden
- <sup>49</sup>Dept. of Physics, University of Wuppertal, D-42119 Wuppertal, Germany

<sup>50</sup>DESY, D-15735 Zeuthen, Germany

- <sup>a</sup>Earthquake Research Institute, University of Tokyo, Bunkyo, Tokyo 113-0032, Japan
- $^b\mathrm{NASA}$ Goddard Space Flight Center, Greenbelt, MD 20771, USA
- $^c\mathrm{Current}$ address: Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada, V6T 1Z1
- $^d\mathrm{Dept.}$  of Physics, Imperial College London, London SW7 2AZ, UK
- $^e\mathrm{Current}$ address: GRAPPA Institute, University of Amsterdam, 1098 XH, Amsterdam, Netherlands
- $^f\mathrm{Corresponding}$  authors: P. Scott and M. Danninger

E-mail: p.scott@imperial.ac.uk, matthias.danninger@cern.ch

**Abstract.** We present an improved event-level likelihood formalism for including neutrino telescope data in global fits to new physics. We derive limits on spin-dependent dark matter-proton scattering by employing the new formalism in a re-analysis of data from the 79-string IceCube search for dark matter annihilation in the Sun, including explicit energy information for each event. The new analysis excludes a number of models in the weak-scale minimal supersymmetric standard model (MSSM) for the first time. This work is accompanied by the public release of the 79-string IceCube data, as well as an associated computer code for applying the new likelihood to arbitrary dark matter models.

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Keywords:}}\xspace$  dark matter theory, dark matter experiments, supersymmetry, neutrino astronomy

## Contents

Introduction

т	IIIU	rouuction	1					
<b>2</b>	The	e 79-string IceCube search for dark matter	2					
	2.1	The IceCube detector	2					
	2.2	Data samples	3					
	2.3	Signal and background simulation	3					
	2.4	Calculation of detector efficiencies	3					
	2.5	Angular response	4					
	2.6	Energy estimator	4					
	2.7	Background estimation	8					
	2.8	Data format, public code and availability	8					
3	3 Likelihood functions							
	3.1	General form	8					
	3.2	Background likelihood	10					
	3.3	Signal likelihood	10					
	3.4	Detector response	12					
	3.5	Predicted event rate	12					
	3.6	Bias factor calculation	13					
4	Imp	proved limits on WIMP dark matter	14					
<b>5</b>	Imp	plications for MSSM benchmarks	18					
6	Cor	nclusions	20					

#### 1 Introduction

Searches for high-energy neutrinos from the Sun are currently the most sensitive means of probing spin-dependent interactions between protons and most models for dark matter (DM) [1, 2]. Most analyses take a semi-model-independent approach, assuming that capture and annihilation have reached equilibrium in the Sun, and that DM annihilates exclusively into a single final state. These assumptions are expressly violated in many concrete models for the identity of DM, including supersymmetry [3–7]. Resulting limits are often difficult to meaningfully connect to theoretical predictions [8–15], in part because the necessary data and likelihood functions for recasting limits to other theories are unavailable. The computational expense required to replicate the experimental analyses for millions of parameter combinations can also be prohibitive. All these issues arise in some form in direct detection, collider searches and other forms of indirect detection as well [16–21]. This paper provides a solution to these problems for the indirect dark matter search with neutrinos.

We previously presented a 79-string search for dark matter annihilation in the Sun (IC79; [1]), deriving limits on single annihilation channels. We later developed a formalism (Paper I; [7]) that allows event-level neutrino telescope data to be used to constrain DM models with mixed annihilation final states, thereby allowing IceCube searches to be properly included in

global fits to theories beyond the Standard Model of particle physics (BSM). Paper I provided methods applicable to neutrinos with high energies (50 GeV and above) that were observed with the 22-string configuration of IceCube. This paper (Paper II) revises this formalism to include the impact of non-negligible angles between the neutrino direction and the muon produced, extending the reach of the technique to neutrino energies as low as 10 GeV. We then apply the formalism to IC79 data and use it to rule out some example supersymmetric models. Compared to the original IC79 analysis [1, 22], which was based solely on the observed arrival directions of events, here we also include event-level energy information and an explicit treatment of the total number of observed events within the signal region, leading to an improvement in limits at high DM masses. Extensive references on neutrino searches for dark matter and BSM global fits can be found in Paper I.

We publicly provide the fast likelihood code  $(nulike^1)$  that implements the improved analysis presented in this paper, using the public IC79 event information and detector response. Nulike also provides pre-computed, fully model-independent 'partial likelihoods' for every event observed by IC79, making new limits quick and easy to obtain for any annihilation final state or combination thereof. This is a distinct advantage over the standard IceCube analysis pathway, where full signal propagation and detector simulations are required for each model. While the approach in this paper relies on many results of the direct simulation method, such as effective areas and volumes, it provides a complete framework in which they can then be applied to essentially *any* neutrino annihilation signal that can be safely treated as a point source. The methods and the corresponding code are agnostic with respect to the details of the experiment and can be used to perform similar analyses for other neutrino telescopes, given appropriate input data in the form of event and detector response files.

In Section 2, we will provide details of the IC79 data that we use in the updated analysis, before describing the improved likelihood formalism in Section 3. We then show the impacts of the new analysis on generic weakly-interacting massive particle (WIMP) models in Section 4 and models in the minimal supersymmetric standard model (MSSM) in Section 5. We will conclude in Section 6.

## 2 The 79-string IceCube search for dark matter

## 2.1 The IceCube detector

Completed in December 2010, the IceCube neutrino observatory [23] is a neutrino telescope situated at the South Pole. IceCube is installed in the glacial ice at depths of between 1450 m and 2450 m, instrumenting a total volume of one cubic kilometre. Digital Optical Modules (DOMs) arranged on vertical strings deep in the ice sheet record the Cherenkov light induced by relativistic charged particles, including those created by neutrinos interacting with the ice. The detection of photon yields and arrival times in DOMs allows for the reconstruction of the directions and energies of the secondaries. In its 79-string configuration, 73 strings have a horizontal spacing of 125 m and a vertical spacing of 17 m between DOMs. The six remaining strings are located near the central string of IceCube and feature a reduced vertical spacing between DOMs of 7 m and higher quantum efficiency photomultiplier tubes. Along with the seven surrounding regular strings, they form the DeepCore subarray [24]. The horizontal distance between strings in DeepCore is less than 75 m. The higher sensor density in clear ice provides an order of magnitude lower energy threshold of  $\mathcal{O}(10)$  GeV compared to the main IceCube array.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://nulike.hepforge.org

#### 2.2 Data samples

In the analysis described in this paper, we start with pre-selected data from a search for WIMP dark matter annihilation in the Sun with the IceCube 79-string configuration [1]. This analysis uses 317 live-days of data taken between May 2010 and May 2011. As described in Refs. [1, 22], the DeepCore subarray is included for the first time in the analysis, lowering the energy threshold and extending the search to the austral summer (when neutrinos from the Sun pass downwards through the ice). In order to be sensitive to a wide range of potential WIMP masses, the analysis comprises three independent non-overlapping event selections. First, the full dataset is split into two seasonal streams, where September 22nd 2010 and March 22nd 2011 mark the beginning and end of the 'summer' dataset. The 'summer' sample ('summer low-energy' event selection, SL) is a dedicated low energy event sample that uses the surrounding IceCube strings as an instrumented muon veto in order to select neutrinoinduced events that start within DeepCore. The 'winter' dataset comprises two samples. The first sample ('winter high-energy' event selection, WH) has no particular track-containment requirement and aims to select upward-going muon tracks. The second sample ('winter lowenergy' event selection, WL) is a low energy sample, and focuses on neutrino-induced muon tracks that start or are fully contained in DeepCore. The event selection was carried out separately for each independent sample. By design, the uncorrelated nature of the three datasets makes it straightforward to combine them in a joint likelihood. The analysis in sections 4 and 5 uses the event-level data at final analysis level and corresponding signal simulations from [1] and [22].

## 2.3 Signal and background simulation

Solar WIMP signals are simulated using WIMPSim [25], which describes the annihilation of WIMPs inside the Sun. WIMPSim simulates the production, interaction, oscillation and propagation of all three flavours of neutrinos from the core of the Sun to the detector.

Muons arising in single or coincident air showers as well as atmospheric neutrinos form the background to this analysis. We did not simulate these contributions, as they can be estimated by scrambling real data at the final analysis level (detailed within section 2.7).

#### 2.4 Calculation of detector efficiencies

The effective volume  $V_{\text{eff}}(E_{\mu})$  of the detector for muon or anti-muon events produced through charged current interactions differs for each of the three event selections of Ref. [1].  $V_{\text{eff}}(E_{\mu})$ for the detection of muons from the Sun is a function of muon energy, averaged over the live-time of the respective event selections. It corresponds to an equivalent volume of 100% detection efficiency, and is identical for both muons and anti-muons. We also calculated the effective area  $A_{\text{eff}}(E)$  for detection of muon neutrinos as a function of neutrino energy. We use  $A_{\text{eff}}(E)$  later to compute 'bias factors', which account for selection effects in the analysis (see Section 3.6). The effective areas for muon neutrinos and muon anti-neutrinos differ due to the differences in the (anti-)neutrino cross-sections with hadrons. All effective volumes and areas for the 79-string analysis are available online [26].

We specify the total systematic uncertainties related to the detector response at the 1  $\sigma$  confidence level within each energy bin, in a manner similar to how it was done in Paper I. These uncertainties come from simulation studies, where identified sources of uncertainty, e.g. absolute DOM efficiency, photon propagation in ice, or calibration constants, were individually varied within reasonable ranges of their original values. Similarly, the uncertainties

arising from limited simulation statistics are also given for each energy bin of  $V_{\text{eff}}$ , at the  $1 \sigma$  confidence level. In the final analysis we combine these two errors in quadrature.

#### 2.5 Angular response

The point spread function (PSF) describes the uncertainty in the reconstructed arrival direction of muons. Closely following Paper I, the reduced (one-dimensional) PSF for the angular deviation  $\Delta$  between the true arrival direction of a muon on the sky and its reconstructed direction is

$$P(\Delta) = \frac{\Delta}{\sigma_{\mu}^2} \exp\left[-\frac{\Delta^2}{2\sigma_{\mu}^2}\right].$$
(2.1)

We extract the parameter  $\sigma_{\mu}$ , which we refer to as the 'mean angular error', directly from the one-dimensional PSF constructed from IceCube signal simulations. As in Paper I, we determine  $\sigma_{\mu}$  in the same energy bins that were used for calculating the detector efficiencies. For simplicity, we neglect the curvature of the PSF on the sky, owing to the fact that for dark matter signals detected with DeepCore, the muon production angle is typically expected to be the dominant source of angular deviation. We therefore restrict our analyses to signal regions of radii  $\phi'_{cut}$  around the solar position on the sky so as to minimise the error induced by this approximation (and the fact that we include the entire sky in a data-driven estimation of the background; cf. Sec. 2.7). We determined that  $\phi'_{cut} = 20^{\circ}$  provides satisfactory signal acceptance and background rejection for the WH sample, and  $\phi'_{cut} = 40^{\circ}$  is appropriate for the WL and SL datasets.

We associate angular uncertainties with real data events on an event-by-event basis, using the paraboloid method [27]. A paraboloid function is fitted to the muon track reconstruction likelihood space in the neighbourhood of the best fit. The resulting confidence ellipse on the sky is represented by the two principal axes, which correspond to the standard deviations of the likelihood function in each of two linearly-independent directions. The overall reconstructed likelihood track uncertainty,  $\sigma_{para}$  (the 'paraboloid sigma'), is calculated as the mean in quadrature of the uncertainties along the two axes. Good track fits generally result in paraboloids that are narrow along both axes and therefore have small  $\sigma_{para}$  values.

#### 2.6 Energy estimator

Paper I used the number of lit DOMs  $(N_{\rm chan})$  as a suitable energy estimator. This definition worked well for a detector with a consistent density of optical modules, like the 22-string configuration of IceCube. This paper uses data recorded in the 79-string configuration of IceCube. This configuration includes the DeepCore subarray, which has a higher density of DOMs than the rest of the detector (Sec. 2.1). A simple count of lit DOMs would yield different results depending on whether the event crosses, partially crosses, or is contained within DeepCore. In an attempt to address this, we introduce a modified  $N_{\rm chan}$  value,  $N_{\rm chan}^{\rm c}$ , which corrects for the variation in DOM density across the detector. In this context, the corrected energy proxy  $N_{\rm chan}^{\rm c}$  is

$$N_{\rm chan}^{\rm c} = N_{\rm chan}^{\rm IC} + f_{\rm DC} \times N_{\rm chan}^{\rm DC} \,, \tag{2.2}$$

where  $N_{\text{chan}}^{\text{DC}}$  and  $N_{\text{chan}}^{\text{IC}}$  are the number of lit DOMs in DeepCore ('standard' IceCube and 'high quantum efficiency' DOMs) and the remainder of IceCube, respectively. The factor  $f_{\text{DC}} = 0.28$  is the the ratio of the number of 'standard' IceCube DOMs inside DeepCore to the total number of DOMs in DeepCore, multiplied by an additional correction factor.



Figure 1: Predicted probability distributions of  $N_{\text{chan}}^c$  for the WH event selection, derived from high-statistics simulations used in [1]. Each distribution is defined for muons having energies in a specific logarithmic energy interval of width 0.2. The fitted functions are to guide the eye only and are not used in our calculations. The lower plot compares the fitted functions, illustrating the ability to differentiate events between different energy intervals.

The ratio accounts for the higher density of DOMs in DeepCore compared to the rest of the detector, and the additional correction factor accounts for the higher quantum efficiency of



Figure 2: As per Fig. 1, but for the WL event selection.

the photomultiplier tubes in the 'high quantum efficiency' DOMs.

We calculated the expected distributions of observed  $N_{\rm chan}^{\rm c}$  values for a series of intervals in muon energy, as we did in neutrino energy in Paper I. Figs. 1 – 3 show these probability distributions for each event selection (WH, WL and SL) and muon energy range. The total interval in muon energy is different for each event selection due to the respective event selection criteria that are applied. We use these probability distributions, together with the



Figure 3: As per Fig. 1, but for the SL event selection.

predicted energy spectrum of the signal from each WIMP model, to calculate the predicted distribution of  $N_{\rm chan}^{\rm c}$ . The fitted functions in Figs. 1 – 3 are only to guide the eye; our signal predictions and likelihood calculations employ the actual distributions. The lower plots in Figs. 1 – 3 compare the fitted functions for each event selection, illustrating the ability to differentiate events between different energy intervals. To reach energies as low as the first interval in Figs. 2 and 3, DeepCore uses an independent, low-threshold, simple majority

trigger (SMT), with a 2.5  $\mu$ s time window, applied to DOMs comprising the DeepCore fiducial volume [24]. This trigger requires that three or more DOMs satisfy the so-called hard local coincidence (HLC) condition (as opposed to the threshold of eight or more DOMs, more typically used in IceCube analyses). DOMs meet the HLC condition when two or more DOMs in close proximity to each other (nearest or next-to-nearest neighbours on the same string) register hits within a 1  $\mu$ s time window. This trigger is 70% efficient for a simulated sample of atmospheric  $\nu_{\mu}$  events of 10 GeV neutrino energy [24].

More advanced energy reconstruction methods other than  $N_{\text{chan}}^{c}$  are available in IceCube that are based on the reconstruction of charged-particle energies and topologies from the observed Cherenkov light yield [28]. Here we use  $N_{\text{chan}}^{c}$  for simplicity and robustness.

### 2.7 Background estimation

As in Paper I, the background distributions for each event selection come directly from data. The angular distribution of background events  $dP_{BG}(\phi')/d\phi'$  is a function of  $\phi'$ , the angle between the reconstructed track direction and the Sun. Muons produced in cosmic-ray showers are the dominant contributors to the background. Their angular distribution is observed to be largely independent of azimuth, so we estimated  $dP_{BG}(\phi')/d\phi'$  from real data events at the final selection level with scrambled azimuths. We used all observed events at the final selection level for this exercise. Given the tight upper limit on a signal contribution in the original analysis [1], including the nominal signal region does not bias the background estimate. We calculated the distribution of  $N_{chan}^c$  due to background events,  $dP_{BG}(N_{chan}^c)/dN_{chan}^c$ , and observed no significant correlation between the arrival angles of events relative to the Sun and their measured  $N_{chan}^c$  values.

#### 2.8 Data format, public code and availability

Full event data from the analysis of Ref. [1], including angles,  $N_{\rm chan}^{\rm c}$  values and paraboloid sigmas, can be found at http://icecube.wisc.edu/science/data/IC79\_solarWIMP\_data\_release. Effective areas and volumes, along with  $N_{\rm chan}^{\rm c}$  and angular responses, can be found at the same location.

The nulike code can be downloaded from http://nulike.hepforge.org. The release of nulike coincides with the release of DarkSUSY v5.1.3. This release of DarkSUSY provides optimised interpolation routines for WIMPSim [25] outputs contained in DarkSUSY, and ensures that they are fully compatible with the parallel likelihood routines in nulike (i.e. the routines one would use together with nulike are threadsafe in the latest DarkSUSY release).

## 3 Likelihood functions

#### 3.1 General form

The primary improvement in the likelihood treatment here compared to Paper I [7] is that we allow for differences between the arrival directions of neutrinos ( $\phi$ ) and the muons they produce ( $\phi_{\mu}$ ). At neutrino energies above  $\mathcal{O}(100 \,\text{GeV})$ , to a good approximation one can neglect the difference between  $\phi$  and  $\phi_{\mu}$ . This was the case for all data and calculations considered in Paper I. With the DeepCore infill array however, the actual 79- and 86-string IceCube configurations are sensitive to neutrino energies even below 10 GeV. For example, for a neutrino of energy 10 GeV producing a muon of 4 GeV,  $\phi - \phi_{\mu}$  can be as large as 30 degrees, and must therefore be explicitly included in all calculations. The distribution of muon production angles introduces an explicit energy dependence to the detector PSF. This improves on our earlier approximation that the detector response factorises into separate functions of angle and energy (Eq. 3.6 in Paper I). In this paper we therefore work with the general form of the unbinned likelihood,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{unbin}} \equiv \mathcal{L}_{\text{num}}(n_{\text{tot}}|\theta_{\text{tot}}) \prod_{i=1}^{n_{\text{tot}}} \int_0^\pi \int_0^\infty Q(N_i^{\text{c}}, \phi_i'|E, \phi) \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 P}{\mathrm{d}E \,\mathrm{d}\phi}(E, \phi, \vec{\xi}) \,\mathrm{d}E \,\mathrm{d}\phi \,. \tag{3.1}$$

The vector  $\vec{\xi}$  refers to the parameters of a given BSM model.  $N_i^c$  and  $\phi'_i$  are the actual observed event-level data for the *i*th event of  $n_{\text{tot}}$  total events.  $N_i^c$  in this analysis is the generalised  $N_{\text{chan}}$ , whereas  $\phi'_i$  is the angle between the reconstructed muon track and the direction of the Sun. As in Paper I,  $Q(N_i^c, \phi'_i | E, \phi)$  is the probability density (in effective units of inverse angle and  $N_{\text{chan}}^c$ ) for observing  $N_i^c$  and  $\phi'_i$  for the *i*th event when the true values of the incoming neutrino energy and angle relative to the Sun are E and  $\phi$ , respectively.

The prefactor  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{num}}$  is the number likelihood for observing  $n_{\text{tot}}$  events given a prediction  $\theta_{\text{tot}}$ , marginalised over the systematic error on the predicted number of events. This is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{num}}(n_{\text{tot}}|\theta_{\text{tot}}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{\epsilon}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{(\theta_{\text{BG}} + \epsilon\theta_{\text{S}})^{n_{\text{tot}}} e^{-(\theta_{\text{BG}} + \epsilon\theta_{\text{S}})}}{n_{\text{tot}}!} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\ln\epsilon}{\sigma_{\epsilon}}\right)^{2}\right] \mathrm{d}\epsilon, \quad (3.2)$$

where  $\theta_{\rm S}$  is the predicted number of signal events,  $\theta_{\rm BG}$  is the predicted number of background events,  $\theta_{\rm tot} = \theta_{\rm S} + \theta_{\rm BG}$ ,  $\epsilon$  is the rescaling variable assumed to have a log-normal distribution, and  $\sigma_{\epsilon}$  is the fractional systematic error on the signal prediction (which sets the width of the distribution of  $\epsilon$ ). The width  $\sigma_{\epsilon}$  is the sum in quadrature of a theoretical error  $\tau$  and the fractional uncertainty on the detector response. This treatment requires the selection of a single indicative systematic error on the effective volume, which is then applied identically at all muon energies. When computing results, to be conservative we chose the largest systematic error on the effective volume over the entire range of detectable muon energies. For the theoretical error  $\tau$  we adopted a minimum of 5% for WIMP masses  $m_{\chi} \leq 100 \,{\rm GeV}$ to account for neglected higher order corrections and round-off errors, increasing to 50% at  $m_{\chi} = 10 \,{\rm TeV}$  as

$$\tau = 0.05 \left(\frac{m_{\chi}}{100 \,\text{GeV}}\right)^{1/2} \,. \tag{3.3}$$

This sliding scale is designed to encapsulate the increasing error with WIMP mass of predicted spectra from DarkSUSY, due to internal tables in which it interpolates results from WIMPSim. Paper I and Refs. [16, 29] give further details and background on the number likelihood.

The expected distribution of incident neutrino energies (E) and angles  $(\phi)$  is given by  $d^2P/dE d\phi(E, \phi, \vec{\xi})$ , which is a prediction of the model parameters  $\vec{\xi}$ . This separates into a weighted sum of the signal (S) and background (BG) contributions, so that Eq. 3.1 can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{unbin}} \equiv \mathcal{L}_{\text{num}}(n_{\text{tot}}|\theta_{\text{tot}}) \prod_{i=1}^{n_{\text{tot}}} \left( f_{\text{S}} \mathcal{L}_{\text{S},i} + f_{\text{BG}} \mathcal{L}_{\text{BG},i} \right) , \qquad (3.4)$$

where  $f_{\rm S} \equiv \theta_{\rm S}/\theta_{\rm tot}$  and  $f_{\rm BG} \equiv \theta_{\rm BG}/\theta_{\rm tot}$  are the fractions of the total expected events from signal and background, respectively, and

$$\mathcal{L}_{X,i}(N_i^{\rm c},\phi_i'|\vec{\xi}) \equiv \int_0^\pi \int_0^\infty Q(N_i^{\rm c},\phi_i'|E,\phi) \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 P_X}{\mathrm{d}E\,\mathrm{d}\phi}(E,\phi,\vec{\xi})\,\mathrm{d}E\,\mathrm{d}\phi\,,\tag{3.5}$$

gives the signal (X = S) and background likelihoods (X = BG).

#### 3.2 Background likelihood

The calculation of the background likelihood component follows the treatment in Paper I closely: the integral in Eq. 3.5 for X = BG is the actual observed background, which is independent of the model parameters  $\vec{\xi}$ . Within the zenith angle range considered in this analysis, to a very good approximation, the background spectrum and angular distributions are not correlated.  $\mathcal{L}_{BG,i}$  can then be written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{BG},i}(N_i^{\mathrm{c}},\phi_i') = \frac{\mathrm{d}P_{\mathrm{BG}}}{\mathrm{d}N_i^{\mathrm{c}}}(N_i^{\mathrm{c}})\frac{\mathrm{d}P_{\mathrm{BG}}}{\mathrm{d}\phi_i'}(\phi_i')\,,\tag{3.6}$$

where  $dP_{BG}/dN_i^c$  and  $dP_{BG}/d\phi'_i$  are the observed  $N_{chan}^c$  and angular distributions of the background, respectively (Sec. 2.7). The expected number of background events  $\theta_{BG}$  used to calculate the background fraction  $f_{BG}$  refers to the events contained in the angular cut  $\phi'_{cut}$  around the solar position.

#### 3.3 Signal likelihood

In order to take into account the distribution of production angles in calculating the signal likelihood, the integral in Eq. 3.5 for X = S should be expressed in terms of the kinematics of the produced muons. In Eq. 3.5 this integrand is the product of the predicted arrival probability of a neutrino of a given energy and arrival angle, and the detector response to it. We express this as the product of the predicted differential flux of incoming neutrinos  $(d^2\Phi_{\nu}/dE \,d\phi)$ , the exposure time of the observation  $(t_{\exp})$ , the effective differential cross-section for neutrino conversion into muons in the ice  $(d^2\Sigma_{\nu\to\mu}/dE_{\mu}\,d\phi_{\mu})$ , and the response of the detector to muon-conversion events  $(Q_{\mu})$ . We then integrate over the distribution of muon energies and angles that might be created in the interaction, so as to recover a pure function of the neutrino properties (as the theoretical predictions of different dark matter models  $\vec{\xi}$  are given at neutrino level). We divide by the expected number of signal events  $\theta_S$  inside the angular cut cone, in order to normalise the integral of the resulting probability distribution to unity. We also multiply by a bias factor  $f^{\rm b}(E)$ , which is an analysis-dependent function of the neutrino energy.  $\theta_S$  and  $f^{\rm b}(E)$  are discussed in detail in Sec. 3.5. Finally, we add the contributions of both incoming neutrinos and antineutrinos, giving:

$$Q(N_{i}^{c},\phi_{i}'|E,\phi)\frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}P_{\mathrm{S}}}{\mathrm{d}E\,\mathrm{d}\phi}(E,\phi,\vec{\xi}) = \frac{t_{\mathrm{exp}}}{\theta_{\mathrm{S}}}\left[\frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}\Phi_{\nu}}{\mathrm{d}E\,\mathrm{d}\phi}(E,\phi,\vec{\xi})f_{\nu}^{\mathrm{b}}(E)\int_{0}^{\infty}\int_{\phi}^{\phi+\pi}Q_{\mu}(N_{i}^{c},\phi_{i}'|E_{\mu},\phi_{\mu})\frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}\Sigma_{\nu\to\mu}}{\mathrm{d}E_{\mu}\,\mathrm{d}\phi_{\mu}}(E_{\mu},\phi_{\mu}|E,\phi)\,\mathrm{d}\phi_{\mu}\,\mathrm{d}E_{\mu}\right] + \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}\Phi_{\bar{\nu}}}{\mathrm{d}E\,\mathrm{d}\phi}(E,\phi,\vec{\xi})f_{\bar{\nu}}^{\mathrm{b}}(E)\int_{0}^{\infty}\int_{\phi}^{\phi+\pi}Q_{\bar{\mu}}(N_{i}^{c},\phi_{i}'|E_{\bar{\mu}},\phi_{\bar{\mu}})\frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}\Sigma_{\bar{\nu}\to\mu}}{\mathrm{d}E_{\bar{\mu}}\,\mathrm{d}\phi_{\bar{\mu}}}(E_{\bar{\mu}},\phi_{\bar{\mu}}|E,\phi)\,\mathrm{d}\phi_{\bar{\mu}}\,\mathrm{d}E_{\bar{\mu}}\right].$$

$$(3.7)$$

Here  $\phi_{\mu}$  is the angle of the produced muon relative to the Sun,  $E_{\mu}$  is its energy, and barred quantities are the equivalent measures for anti-particles.

The angular component of the signal prediction is a delta function at the solar position,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \Phi_{\nu}}{\mathrm{d}E \,\mathrm{d}\phi}(E,\phi,\vec{\xi}) = \frac{\mathrm{d}\Phi_{\nu}}{\mathrm{d}E}(E,\vec{\xi})\delta(\phi)\,,\tag{3.8}$$

so the integral of Eq. 3.7 over  $\phi$  (required by Eq. 3.5 in order to obtain the signal likelihood) can be done analytically. We then find

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{S},i}(N_{i}^{\mathrm{c}},\phi_{i}'|\vec{\xi}) = \frac{t_{\mathrm{exp}}}{\theta_{\mathrm{S}}} \sum_{\nu,\bar{\nu}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\Phi_{\nu}}{\mathrm{d}E} (E,\vec{\xi}) f_{\nu}^{\mathrm{b}}(E) \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\pi} Q_{\mu}(N_{i}^{\mathrm{c}},\phi_{i}'|E_{\mu},\phi_{\mu}) \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}\Sigma_{\nu\to\mu}}{\mathrm{d}E_{\mu}\,\mathrm{d}\phi_{\mu}} (E_{\mu},\phi_{\mu}|E,0)\,\mathrm{d}\phi_{\mu}\,\mathrm{d}E_{\mu}\,\mathrm{d}E,$$

$$(3.9)$$

where the sum indicates that the corresponding antiparticle expression must also be included. With  $\phi = 0$ , the true muon arrival angle relative to the Sun,  $\phi_{\mu}$ , becomes identical to the microscopic muon production angle in the frame where the target nucleus is at rest. The value of this angle depends on the incoming neutrino energy and the outgoing muon energy, as well as the momentum carried by the parton within the nucleon with which the neutrino interacts. It can be written as

$$\cos\phi_{\mu}(x,y,E) = \left(E_{\mu}^2 - m_{\mu}^2\right)^{-1/2} \left(E_{\mu} - m_{\rm N}xy - m_{\mu}^2/2E\right) \,, \tag{3.10}$$

where  $m_{\rm N}$  refers to the mass of the nucleon involved. The Björken scaling variable x indicates the fraction of the nucleonic momentum carried by the parton involved in the interaction. By definition, x varies between 0 and 1, as does the other Björken variable  $y = 1 - E_{\mu}/E$ . Together, x and y provide a convenient and well-bounded way to express the dependence of the neutrino interaction cross-sections on the outgoing muon energy and angle. We therefore trade  $E_{\mu}$  and  $\phi_{\mu}$  for x and y, so that  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{S},i}(N_{i}^{\mathrm{c}}, \phi_{i}'|\vec{\xi})$  becomes

$$\frac{t_{\exp}}{\theta_{\rm S}} \sum_{\nu,\bar{\nu}} \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}\Phi_{\nu}}{\mathrm{d}E} (E, \vec{\xi}) f_{\nu}^{\rm b}(E) \iint_0^1 Q_{\mu} \left( N_i^{\rm c}, \phi_i' | E_{\mu}, \phi_{\mu} \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \Sigma_{\nu \to \mu}}{\mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y} (x, y | E) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}E \,, \quad (3.11)$$

remembering that  $E_{\mu} = E_{\mu}(y, E)$  and  $\phi_{\mu} = \phi_{\mu}(x, y, E)$ . For each observed event inside our analysis cone, we precompute the inner double integral of Eq. 3.11 for a set of 50 logarithmically-spaced neutrino energies per decade over the range  $0.5 \leq \log_{10}(E/\text{GeV}) \leq$ 4.0. To obtain the contribution of the predicted signal to the total likelihood for that event, we re-weight these 'partial likelihoods' according to the predicted neutrino spectrum for each model  $\vec{\xi}$ , as well as the bias factor  $f^{\text{b}}$ . To allow for a fast and straightforward application to any theoretical neutrino spectrum, we provide the partial likelihoods for the 79-string IceCube analysis in nulike, precomputed, along with routines for computing the bias factors  $f^{\text{b}}$ . We also provide the underlying event data online [26] and a utility within nulike that can precompute and save the partial likelihoods from any other neutrino telescope, provided the data are in the same format.

The effective differential conversion cross-section is given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \Sigma_{\nu \to \mu}}{\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y}(x, y|E) = V_{\mathrm{eff}}(E_{\mu}) \sum_{N=p,n} n_N \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \sigma_{\nu \to \mu, N}}{\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y}(x, y|E) \,, \tag{3.12}$$

where it should again be understood that  $E_{\mu} = E_{\mu}(y, E)$ . The replacement  $\{\nu, \mu\} \rightarrow \{\bar{\nu}, \bar{\mu}\}$  provides the corresponding expression for  $d^2 \Sigma_{\bar{\nu} \rightarrow \bar{\mu}}/dx \, dy$ . This is the product of the number density  $n_N$  of nucleon species N (proton or neutron) in the detector, the effective volume  $V_{\text{eff}}(E_{\mu})$  of the detector for muon or anti-muon conversion events, and  $d^2 \sigma_{\nu \rightarrow \mu, N}/dx \, dy$ , the microscopic differential cross-section for muon production by charged-current interactions.

 $V_{\text{eff}}$  is the same for both muons and anti-muons. In contrast, the differential cross-sections differ for particles and antiparticles. These are known from the theory of weak interactions, up to a dependence on the parton distributions for x. We obtain these from nusigma [30], which by default relies on the CTEQ6-DIS parton distribution functions [31]. Users of nulike who prefer other parton distributions can simply switch those employed by nusigma and recompute the partial likelihoods.

#### **3.4** Detector response

Based on the observation that the angular and spectral  $(N_{\text{chan}}^c)$  distributions of detected events are essentially uncorrelated across the sky (Sec. 2.7), we assume that the detector response to events producing muons factorises into the product

$$Q_{\mu}(N_{i}^{c},\phi_{i}'|E_{\mu},\phi_{\mu}) = E_{disp}(N_{i}^{c}|E_{\mu})PSF(\phi_{i}'|\phi_{\mu},E_{\mu}).$$
(3.13)

Here  $E_{\text{disp}}(N_i^c|E_{\mu})$  is the energy dispersion of the detector and  $\text{PSF}(\phi'_i|\phi_{\mu}, E_{\mu})$  is its point spread function, assuming these to be identical for muons and antimuons. The energy dispersion is the  $N_{\text{chan}}^c$  response to events that produce muons of a given energy (in contrast to the neutrino  $N_{\text{chan}}$  response that we employed in Paper I). We obtained this from IceCube detector Monte Carlo simulations (Sec. 2.6).

The uncertainty in the muon reconstruction direction is given on a per-event basis by the IceCube paraboloid sigma  $\sigma_{\text{para},i}$  for the *i*th event (Sec. 2.5), which accounts for the dependence of the PSF on the incoming muon energy. To obtain the PSF in terms of  $\phi'_i$ and  $\phi_{\mu}$ , we shift from the coordinate system centred on the true muon arrival direction (i.e.  $\Delta = 0$  in Eq. 2.1) to the one with the Sun at the origin ( $\phi' = 0$ ), integrating over all azimuths to obtain

$$PSF(\phi_i'|\phi_\mu, E_\mu) = \frac{\phi_i'}{\sigma_{\text{para},i}^2} \exp\left[-\frac{{\phi_i'}^2 + \phi_\mu^2}{2\sigma_{\text{para},i}^2}\right] I_0\left(\frac{\phi_\mu\phi_i'}{\sigma_{\text{para},i}^2}\right), \qquad (3.14)$$

where  $I_0$  is the lowest-order modified Bessel function of the first kind.<sup>2</sup>

#### 3.5 Predicted event rate

The total predicted number of signal events  $\theta_{\rm S}$  follows similarly to Eq. 3.11 as the sum of the predicted number of neutrino-initiated signal events

$$\theta_{\mathrm{S},\nu}(\vec{\boldsymbol{\xi}}) = t_{\mathrm{exp}} \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}\Phi_\nu}{\mathrm{d}E} (E,\vec{\boldsymbol{\xi}}) f_\nu^{\mathrm{b}}(E) \iint_0^1 L(\phi_\mu, E_\mu, \phi_{\mathrm{cut}}') \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \Sigma_{\nu \to \mu}}{\mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y} (x, y|E) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}E \,, \quad (3.15)$$

and the corresponding quantity  $\theta_{\mathrm{S},\bar{\nu}}$  for anti-neutrinos. Again, we remind the reader that  $\phi_{\mu}$ and  $E_{\mu}$  are functions of x, y and E. The only difference here with respect to what one would naively read off Eq. 3.11 is the factor  $L(\phi_{\mu}, E_{\mu}, \phi'_{\mathrm{cut}})$ , a dimensionless, energy-dependent angular loss factor that is independent of the muon charge. L corrects for neutrinos that originate from the direction of the Sun but produce muons that are ultimately reconstructed as arriving from outside the analysis cut cone ( $\phi'_i > \phi'_{\mathrm{cut}}$ ). Similarly to Paper I, we use the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The definition of the PSF here differs from Paper I, as in the current paper we allow for differences between the neutrino and muon angles, perform the co-ordinate shift and normalise over the whole sky. Previously, we normalised over the analysis cut cone instead of the full sky, and normalised with respect to the allowed ranges of the true direction and its deviation from the reconstructed one, rather than by simply considering the permitted values of the reconstructed angle like we do here. This marginally degraded the sensitivity of the previous analysis, although the effect was negligible in comparison to the experimental uncertainty.

mean angular error of IceCube ( $\sigma_{\mu}$ ; cf. Sec. 2.5) to calculate L, integrating the PSF over the analysis cut cone to give

$$L(\phi_{\mu}, E_{\mu}, \phi_{\text{cut}}') = \int_{0}^{\phi_{\text{cut}}'} \frac{\phi'}{\sigma_{\mu}^{2}} \exp\left[-\frac{{\phi'}^{2} + \phi_{\mu}^{2}}{2\sigma_{\mu}^{2}}\right] I_{0}\left(\frac{\phi_{\mu}\phi'}{\sigma_{\mu}^{2}}\right) \mathrm{d}\phi' \equiv P_{1}\left(\frac{\phi_{\mu}}{\sigma_{\mu}}, \frac{\phi_{\text{cut}}'}{\sigma_{\mu}}\right) \,. \tag{3.16}$$

This is known as the Marcum P-function or Complementary Marcum Q-function, which we evaluate with the code of Ref. [32].

There are two crucial differences here as compared to Paper I. The first is that L is a muon-level correction factor, expressed in terms of the muon energy and the width of the muon-level angular uncertainty  $\sigma_{\mu}(E_{\mu})$ , not the corresponding neutrino quantities. The other is that because of the non-zero muon production angle, the off-centre PSF (Eq. 3.14) must be used instead of the central distribution (Eq. 2.1).

The mean angular error is the correct PSF width to use in Eq. 3.16, because we are interested in determining *a priori* what fraction of incoming neutrinos with a given energy should be absent from the final set of observed events, due to the chosen angular cut. This is in contrast to the case of the contribution to the partial likelihood coming from the detector response (Eq. 3.14), where we are interested in the probability that *a given event* originated from the Sun, where the event-level paraboloid  $\sigma_{\text{para},i}$  should be preferred.

#### 3.6 Bias factor calculation

The inner double integral in Eq. 3.15 gives the *unbiased* neutrino effective area for this analysis. It differs from the effective area derived in the standard 79-string analysis [1] in two important ways. First, it includes the factor L, to account for the angular loss due to our analysis cut cone around the solar position. Second, it implicitly assumes that all muons of a given energy are equally likely to pass the original analysis cuts used in the 79-string analysis. In reality, low-energy muons created by high-energy neutrinos are, for example, far more likely to appear in the final event sample than muons of the same energy created by low-energy neutrinos. This is due to the additional light deposited in the detector from the hadronic recoil in the case of a higher-energy neutrino, and the analysis cuts placed on quantities such as the absolute number of activated DOMs.

This departure from a perfect mapping between the properties of a muon and its probability of ending up in the final event sample constitutes a bias that depends on the neutrino energy. This is precisely the reason for the bias factor  $f^{b}(E)$  in the preceding expressions, which accounts for the departure of the the event sample from the minimum bias expectation. To quantify this effect, we take the ratio

$$f^{\mathbf{b}}(E) = A_{\text{eff}}(E) \left[ \iint_{0}^{1} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2} \Sigma_{\nu \to \mu}}{\mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y}(x, y|E) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y, \right]^{-1}$$
(3.17)

of the original 79-string effective area  $A_{\text{eff}}(E)$  to the unbiased effective area calculated without the angular correction L. The final effective area in this paper is the product of the bias factor  $f^{\text{b}}$  and the unbiased effective area with the angular correction L. In this way, our analysis is fully consistent with the original 79-string effective area by construction, and accounts for both the bias and the angular cut cone at the same time.

To facilitate the use of other neutrino spectra, we provide unbiased effective areas precomputed in nulike for the three 79-string IceCube event selections, both with and without the angular correction L. We also provide the routines necessary to repeat the computations



Figure 4: Limits on dark matter annihilation in the Sun using an analysis that takes into account neutrino energy information. We show limits separately for the three different IC79 event samples SL (summer low) WL (winter low) and WH (winter high) and their combination. The difference between dashed and solid lines indicates the improvement gained by moving from a simple counts-based number likelihood to a full unbinned one, incorporating the number of events, their arrival directions and energies. The full limit is weaker than the WL sample taken alone at low masses, because the SL sample exhibits a weak excess ( $<2\sigma$ local significance) of events above background expectation, not borne out in the WL sample. Here we have assumed an annihilation cross-section of  $\langle \sigma v \rangle_0 = 3 \times 10^{-26} \text{ cm}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$  entirely into  $\tau^+\tau^-$  final states.

for any other dataset. In final likelihood mode, the user can choose to have nulike work with user-supplied bias factors, or use the unbiased effective areas to automatically determine the bias factors.

## 4 Improved limits on WIMP dark matter

Figures 4–7 show the 90% confidence level (CL) limits on simple effective WIMP DM models computed using IC79 data (Sec. 2) and the nulike 1.0.0 implementation of the likelihood described in Sec. 3. We use the  $\Delta \ln \mathcal{L}$  relative to the background-only prediction as the test statistic, summed over the three event selections, conditioning on all parameters except the cross-section to leave only a single degree of freedom. The distribution of this test statistic is very close to  $\chi^2$ , as shown in previous analyses by explicit Monte Carlo [1, 22]; this allows CLs to be determined by standard  $\Delta \chi^2$  methods.



Figure 5: Limits on the spin-dependent WIMP-proton cross-section from IC79 using the improved likelihood, for the canonical soft  $(b\bar{b})$  and hard  $(W^+W^- \text{ and } \tau^+\tau^-)$  annihilation channels often seen in SUSY models. Here we compare to the limits from the original IC79 analysis ('PRL'; [1]); note that the previous 'hard' channel limit is  $W^+W^-$  above the W mass, but  $\tau^+\tau^-$  below it. The addition of energy information provides an improvement of up to a factor of 4 at high WIMP masses over the previous analysis, whereas the limits are in excellent agreement for low WIMP masses. Here we have assumed an annihilation cross-section of  $\langle \sigma v \rangle_0 = 3 \times 10^{-26} \text{ cm}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ .

For all limits in this section, we assume that DM annihilates exclusively to some specific final state, with a canonical thermal annihilation cross-section  $\langle \sigma v \rangle_0 = 3 \times 10^{-26} \text{ cm}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ . For all but the highest WIMP masses and lowest scattering cross-sections, these models have reached equilibrium between capture and annihilation in the Sun. We do not assume equilibrium in our calculations however, as is often done. We use DarkSUSY 5.1.3 to compute the predicted neutrino spectrum at the detector for each model, and to solve for the present-day DM population in the Sun. We adopt the standard halo model and default nuclear matrix elements as implemented in DarkSUSY; see discussions in Refs. [17, 35].

Fig. 4 presents the limits on the spin-dependent WIMP-proton cross-section imposed by the three different IC79 event samples: WH, WL and SL individually, and in combination. As an example, here we show limits corresponding to annihilation solely to  $\tau^+\tau^-$  final states. As expected [1, 22], the SL and WL samples dominate the sensitivity at low WIMP masses. For comparison, we also show limits based on the number likelihood (Eq. 3.2) alone, neglecting all event-level information. For the cut cone that we use (40 degrees for WL and SL, 20 degrees for WH), considering the arrival directions and energies of neutrino events provides up to a factor of 20 improvement in the resulting limits.



Figure 6: Comparison of our limits with the latest constraints from Super-Kamiokande [2] and PICO [33, 34]. Depending on the annihilation channel, IceCube provides the strongest limits above WIMP masses of ~100–200 GeV. Super-K is more sensitive at the lowest masses. If the annihilation spectrum is soft or heavily suppressed, the PICO experiment provides stronger limits than neutrino telescopes; other direct limits are weaker. Here we have assumed an annihilation cross-section of  $\langle \sigma v \rangle_0 = 3 \times 10^{-26} \text{ cm}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$  for deriving IceCube limits; Super-K limits assume complete equilibrium between capture and annihilation in the Sun.

At high masses, the combined limit in Fig. 4 essentially tracks the exclusion curve of the WH sample, which is orders of magnitude more sensitive than the WL and SL samples in this region of parameter space. At masses below 100 GeV however, where SL and WL both play significant roles, the combined limit is slightly weaker than the limit obtained by considering the WL sample alone. This is because the SL sample exhibits a weak excess above the background expectation inside the analysis cut cone that is not replicated in the WL sample: 819 observed events as compared to 770 predicted in the analysis cone from background alone.

In Fig. 5 we compare these new limits to the previous 79-string IceCube constraints on hard and soft annihilation channels. To allow a reasonable comparison, here we show limits for  $b\bar{b}$ ,  $W^+W^-$  and  $\tau^+\tau^-$  final states, matching what was used in the previous analysis ('soft channel' =  $b\bar{b}$ , 'hard channel' =  $W^+W^-$  for  $m_{\chi} > m_W$  and  $\tau^+\tau^-$  for  $m_{\chi} < m_W$ ). The previous analysis used the same data as we use here, except that it did not include event energy information in the likelihood function. At low masses, the analysis agrees with the previous one, indicating that the energy information adds little information. Including the event-level energy information has the most impact at high WIMP mass, making use of the relatively good energy resolution of IceCube at high muon energies. The limits in Fig. 5



Figure 7: Limits on the spin-dependent WIMP-proton cross-section from IC79, for a range of different annihilation final states. The canonical hard  $(W^+W^- \text{ and } \tau^+\tau^-)$  and soft  $(b\bar{b})$ channels bracket the possible limits for different models reasonably well. More extreme channels (hardest:  $\nu\bar{\nu}$ , softest: gg) less often found in SUSY can lead to even stronger or weaker constraints. For the  $\nu\bar{\nu}$  channel we have assumed equal branching fractions for all three neutrino flavours. The ability to easily and quickly compute full limits for any combination of final states is a particular feature of the method and tools we present in this paper. As a convenience, datafiles for all curves in this figure are available precomputed in the nulike download<sup>3</sup>.

are up to a factor of 4 stronger than the previous analysis at multi-TeV masses. The latest update of WIMPSim fixes an issue with propagation of neutrinos in the Sun that affected the version used to derive the original IC79 limits [1]. This resulted in conservative limits for WIMP masses above ~500 GeV, ranging from a factor of 1.05 at 500 GeV to 1.2 at 1 TeV and up to 1.5 at 5 TeV for the  $W^+W^-$  and  $\tau^+\tau^-$  final states. Improvements beyond those factors are due to the improved analysis method in this paper.

Fig. 6 compares these limits to other searches for spin-dependent DM-proton scattering, both from the Sun and direct detection experiments. The 79-string IceCube data provide the strongest limits of any search for all masses above  $\sim 100-200$  GeV (the exact value depends on the annihilation channel). Super-Kamiokande [2] is the most sensitive experiment at all lower masses. Limits from direct detection [33, 34] are weaker, except in the case of DM with soft or suppressed annihilation spectra, in which case the PICO experiment [33, 34] is the most constraining. Indirect DM searches by Antares [36] and Baksan [37] have set less stringent limits on the spin-dependent DM-proton scattering and are consequently not included in Fig. 6. Figure 7 shows new limits for all major two-body annihilation final states. Annihilation to either electroweak gauge boson final state is more or less equivalent, as W and Z have around the same mass and couplings to the rest of the SM, and consequently yield very similar neutrino spectra. We don't show hZ, but we have checked that it indeed lies mid-way between hh and ZZ, as expected.

As expected, most channels are indeed bracketed by the canonical 'hard' and 'soft' channels. The exceptions to this are gluon final states, where spectra are especially soft and limits particularly weak, and neutrino final states, which give very strong limits because they are monochromatic at the source. In the neutrino case, the monochromatic source spectrum means that of all final states, annihilation to neutrinos tracks the actual neutrino effective area most closely, with the only deviation from a monochromatic spectrum at the detector coming from reprocessing in the Sun following prompt production at the DM mass. This is also why the neutrino-channel limits at masses above one TeV become weaker than those from the  $\tau^+\tau^-$  channel: as a channel with an extremely hard annihilation spectrum, most of the neutrinos produced are close to the DM mass, and are therefore absorbed in the Sun. This is a general feature of all channels above one TeV: soft and hard channels begin to swap character in terms of the limits, as softer channels actually produce more neutrinos able to make it out of the Sun and to the detector. This effect can also be seen in the gluon channel limits, which become stronger as the mass increases past  $\sim 7 \text{ TeV}$ , as enough of the resulting very low-energy neutrinos are pulled into the observable energy window from below to counteract the slight increase in the number of neutrinos above one TeV that never make it out of the Sun.

#### 5 Implications for MSSM benchmarks

In this section we use the new IceCube 79-string likelihood to test a number of models of weak-scale supersymmetry, employing the same test statistic as in Sec. 4. Here we focus on the MSSM-25, a 25-parameter, weak-scale parameterisation of the minimal supersymmetric standard model (MSSM; see Ref. [40] for details). This contains the MSSM-19, otherwise known to as the 'phenomenological' (p)MSSM, as a subspace.

Fig. 8 shows some MSSM-25 benchmark models from the study of Ref. [40], selected by requiring models with large spin-dependent scattering cross-sections. To give a broader indication of the possibilities in the MSSM, Fig. 8 also shows all models from the MSSM-19 benchmarking exercise of the Snowmass 2013 review [9], except for the Bino-stop coannihilation benchmark, which is very similar to the Bino-squark benchmark in this plane.<sup>4</sup> Except for the models that we show with faded symbols (which we return to later) these models are all consistent with constraints from the LHC, flavour physics and the relic density of dark matter, as well as direct and indirect searches for dark matter. The Snowmass 2013 benchmarks include a 'spoke' of models extending along a single direction in parameter space from one specific benchmark, shown as a vertical line in Fig. 8. We also show shaded bands between the strongest ( $\tau^+\tau^-$ ) and weakest ( $b\bar{b}$ ) limits for channels typically seen in the MSSM. This gives some idea of where essentially all MSSM models are excluded regardless of annihilation channel (above the  $b\bar{b}$  limit), and where only some models are excluded (between

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>We have reduced the Bino mass parameter  $M_1$  in this benchmark from 868 GeV to 800 GeV, in order to make the neutralino the lightest SUSY particle when carrying out the calculations with DarkSUSY. This reduces the nuclear scattering cross-sections compared to Ref. [9], but the model is unconstrained by IceCube either way.



Figure 8: Implications of the new IC79 analysis for benchmark models in the MSSM-25. Models shown with solid red crosses are excluded for the first time by IC79. Faded red symbols are excluded by both IC79 and recent LUX spin-dependent bounds [38, 39]. These all correspond to so-called 'well-tempered' neutralinos, which exhibit a mixed gaugino-Higgsino character. Solid orange crosses indicate models in tension with IC79 data at more than  $1\sigma$  (but excluded at less than 90% CL). Green plus symbols indicate models not constrained by IC79, labelled according to the dominant characteristic determining their relic density. The vertical green line corresponds to a benchmark 'spoke' of models [9], where the correct relic density is obtained by bino-squark co-annihilation. Benchmarks are from the MSSM-25 and MSSM-19 ('pMSSM'; a subset of the MSSM-25) scans of Refs. [9, 40], and correspond to models allowed by LHC, relic density and other direct and indirect constraints. Benchmark scattering cross-sections are rescaled for the neutralino relic density, and the shaded regions are indicative only; these assume pure spin-dependent scattering and annihilation to the canonical 'hard' and 'soft' channels often seen in the MSSM (even though harder and softer spectra are also possible within the MSSM).

 $b\bar{b}$  and  $\tau^+\tau^-$ ), depending on their specific annihilation branching fractions to different final states.

We have colour-coded the individual models in Fig. 8 by the extent to which they are excluded by the new IceCube limits, taking into account both spin-dependent and spinindependent scattering. We have also labelled different benchmark groups according to the means by which the neutralino achieves the appropriate relic density in the early Universe. Many neutralino models are excluded for the first time by the new limits we present here (bright red crosses). Other models exhibit a tension with data at the 68–90% confidence level (orange crosses). These are 'well-tempered' neutralino models, which exhibit a roughly even mixture of gaugino and Higgsino weak eigenstates, boosting their spin-dependent scattering cross-section without contributing too strongly to the spin-independent one. Other benchmarks (green plus symbols), where the relic density is achieved by squark or chargino co-annihilation with the neutralino, resonant annihilation via the CP-odd Higgs, or by virtue of the large annihilation cross-section exhibited by pure Higgsinos, remain unconstrained by spin-dependent searches of any kind.

We also show a number of well-tempered neutralino benchmarks with faded symbols in Fig. 8, indicating that although they were consistent with all earlier data, they have since been excluded by LUX [39]. One of these examples (the well-tempered neutralino MSSM-19 benchmark from Ref. [9]) was already strongly excluded by the original LUX spin-independent limits. The others satisfy the spin-independent limit, but are excluded by the recent LUXCalc [38] application of the LUX data to spin-dependent neutron scattering.<sup>5</sup> All of these models are strongly excluded by IceCube.

In Table 1, we give further details of all the benchmark models shown in Fig. 8. These include cross-sections for annihilation and nuclear scattering ( $\langle \sigma v \rangle$ ,  $\sigma_{\text{SD}}$ ,  $\sigma_{\text{SI}}$ ), relic densities ( $\Omega h^2$ ), capture and annihilation rates (C, A), and dominant annihilation branching fractions (necessary to understand differences between the various well-tempered models).

The benchmark models we show here, whilst illustrative, are only isolated samples from the vast range of possible models in the MSSM. A full statistical analysis of MSSM theories in the context of these data awaits their inclusion in large-scale global fits, as expected shortly from the GAMBIT Collaboration [42].

## 6 Conclusions

We have presented a new analysis of data collected in the 79-string IceCube search for dark matter, taking into account energies of individual neutrino events. This resulted in stronger spin-dependent limits on WIMP dark matter, in particular for high WIMP masses, and allowed us to rule out a number of MSSM models for the first time. In the process, we developed an updated fast likelihood pipeline for event-level neutrino telescope DM search data, allowing it to be quickly and accurately applied to constrain essentially any dark matter model. We have also provided a public code implementing the new likelihood (nulike), and made data from the 79-string IceCube DM search publicly available in a format compatible with its use. Full details of the SUSY benchmarks and generic WIMP results presented in this paper are available as example programs in the public distribution of nulike. Future improvements can be expected from applications of nulike to other models, and from the 86-string IceCube search for dark matter, which will include additional data and an improved energy proxy.

## Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the support from the following agencies: U.S. National Science Foundation-Office of Polar Programs, U.S. National Science Foundation-Physics Division, University of Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation, the Grid Laboratory Of Wisconsin (GLOW) grid infrastructure at the University of Wisconsin - Madison, the Open Science Grid (OSG) grid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>We note that shortly before this paper was accepted, LUX submitted their own official spin-dependent analysis [41], which improves on the LUXCalc limits.

infrastructure; U.S. Department of Energy, and National Energy Research Scientific Computing Center, the Louisiana Optical Network Initiative (LONI) grid computing resources; Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, WestGrid and Compute/Calcul Canada; Swedish Research Council, Swedish Polar Research Secretariat, Swedish National Infrastructure for Computing (SNIC), and Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation, Sweden; German Ministry for Education and Research (BMBF), Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG), Helmholtz Alliance for Astroparticle Physics (HAP), Research Department of Plasmas with Complex Interactions (Bochum), Germany; Fund for Scientific Research (FNRS-FWO), FWO Odysseus programme, Flanders Institute to encourage scientific and technological research in industry (IWT), Belgian Federal Science Policy Office (Belspo); University of Oxford, United Kingdom; Marsden Fund, New Zealand; Australian Research Council; Japan Society for Promotion of Science (JSPS); the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNSF), Switzerland; National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF); Danish National Research Foundation, Denmark (DNRF); Science and Technology Facilities Council, United Kingdom (STFC). We also thank the GAMBIT DM and Collider Workgroups for code testing of nulike.

### References

- IceCube Collaboration: M. G. Aartsen, R. Abbasi, et. al., Search for Dark Matter Annihilations in the Sun with the 79-String IceCube Detector, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 131302, [arXiv:1212.4097].
- [2] K. Choi, K. Abe, et. al., Search for Neutrinos from Annihilation of Captured Low-Mass Dark Matter Particles in the Sun by Super-Kamiokande, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 141301.
- [3] G. Wikström and J. Edsjö, Limits on the WIMP-nucleon scattering cross-section from neutrino telescopes, JCAP 4 (2009) 9, [arXiv:0903.2986].
- [4] R. Trotta, R. Ruiz de Austri, and C. Pérez de los Heros, Prospects for dark matter detection with IceCube in the context of CMSSM, JCAP 8 (2009) 34, [arXiv:0906.0366].
- [5] J. Ellis, K. A. Olive, C. Savage, and V. C. Spanos, Neutrino fluxes from constrained minimal supersymmetric standard model lightest supersymmetric particle annihilations in the Sun, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 085004, [arXiv:0912.3137].
- [6] J. Ellis, K. A. Olive, C. Savage, and V. C. Spanos, Neutrino fluxes from nonuniversal Higgs mass LSP annihilations in the Sun, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 085023, [arXiv:1102.1988].
- [7] P. Scott, C. Savage, J. Edsjö, and the IceCube Collaboration: R. Abbasi et al., Use of event-level neutrino telescope data in global fits for theories of new physics, JCAP 11 (2012) 57, [arXiv:1207.0810].
- [8] R. C. Cotta, K. T. K. Howe, J. L. Hewett, and T. G. Rizzo, Phenomenological minimal supersymmetric standard model dark matter searches on ice, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 035017, [arXiv:1105.1199].
- [9] M. W. Cahill-Rowley, J. L. Hewett, A. Ismail, M. E. Peskin, and T. G. Rizzo, pMSSM Benchmark Models for Snowmass 2013, arXiv:1305.2419.
- [10] R. Trotta, F. Feroz, M. Hobson, L. Roszkowski, and R. Ruiz de Austri, The impact of priors and observables on parameter inferences in the constrained MSSM, JHEP 12 (2008) 24, [arXiv:0809.3792].
- [11] Y. Akrami, P. Scott, J. Edsjö, J. Conrad, and L. Bergström, A profile likelihood analysis of the Constrained MSSM with genetic algorithms, JHEP 4 (2010) 57, [arXiv:0910.3950].

- [12] C. Strege, G. Bertone, et. al., Profile likelihood maps of a 15-dimensional MSSM, JHEP 9 (2014) 81, [arXiv:1405.0622].
- [13] P. Bechtle, J. Eliel Camargo-Molina, et. al., Killing the cMSSM softly, arXiv:1508.05951.
- [14] K. J. de Vries, E. A. Bagnaschi, et. al., The pMSSM10 after LHC run 1, European Physical Journal C 75 (2015) 422, [arXiv:1504.03260].
- [15] G. Bertone, F. Calore, et. al., Global analysis of the pMSSM in light of the Fermi GeV excess: prospects for the LHC Run-II and astroparticle experiments, arXiv:1507.07008.
- [16] P. Scott, J. Conrad, et. al., Direct constraints on minimal supersymmetry from Fermi-LAT observations of the dwarf galaxy Segue 1, JCAP 1 (2010) 31, [arXiv:0909.3300].
- [17] Y. Akrami, C. Savage, P. Scott, J. Conrad, and J. Edsjö, How well will ton-scale dark matter direct detection experiments constrain minimal supersymmetry?, JCAP 4 (2011) 12, [arXiv:1011.4318].
- [18] Y. Akrami, C. Savage, P. Scott, J. Conrad, and J. Edsjö, Statistical coverage for supersymmetric parameter estimation: a case study with direct detection of dark matter, JCAP 7 (2011) 2, [arXiv:1011.4297].
- [19] C. Strege, R. Trotta, G. Bertone, A. H. G. Peter, and P. Scott, Fundamental statistical limitations of future dark matter direct detection experiments, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 023507, [arXiv:1201.3631].
- [20] R. C. Cotta, A. Drlica-Wagner, et. al., Constraints on the pMSSM from LAT observations of dwarf spheroidal galaxies, JCAP 4 (2012) 16, [arXiv:1111.2604].
- [21] ATLAS: G. Aad et. al., Summary of the ATLAS experiments sensitivity to supersymmetry after LHC Run 1 interpreted in the phenomenological MSSM, JHEP 10 (2015) 134, [arXiv:1508.06608].
- [22] M. Danninger, Searches for Dark Matter Annihilations in the Sun with IceCube and DeepCore. 2013. PhD Thesis in Physics, Stockholm University.
- [23] F. Halzen and S. R. Klein, Icecube: An instrument for neutrino astronomy, Rev. Sci. Instrum. 81 (2010).
- [24] IceCube Collaboration: R. Abbasi, Y. Abdou, et. al., The design and performance of IceCube DeepCore, Astropart. Phys. 35 (2012) 615–624, [arXiv:1109.6096].
- [25] M. Blennow, J. Edsjö, and T. Ohlsson, Neutrinos from WIMP annihilations obtained using a full three-flavor Monte Carlo approach, JCAP 1 (2008) 21, [arXiv:0709.3898].
- [26] Online data release of Ref. [1], available at http://icecube.wisc.edu/science/data/IC79\_solarWIMP\_data\_release.
- [27] T. Neunhöffer, Estimating the angular resolution of tracks in neutrino telescopes based on a likelihood analysis, Astropart. Phys. 25 (2006) 220–225, [astro-ph/0403367].
- [28] IceCube Collaboration: M. G. Aartsen, R. Abbasi, et. al., Energy reconstruction methods in the icecube neutrino telescope, Journal of Instrumentation 9 (2014) P03009.
- [29] J. Conrad, O. Botner, A. Hallgren, and C. Pérez de Los Heros, Including systematic uncertainties in confidence interval construction for Poisson statistics, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 012002, [hep-ex/0202013].
- [30] J. Edsjö, "Calculation of neutrino cross sections and the nusigma neutrino-nucleon scattering Monte Carlo." Documentation of nusigma. Code and documentation available from http://copsosx03.fysik.su.se/wimpsim/code.html., 2007.
- [31] J. Pumplin, D. Stump, et. al., New generation of parton distributions with uncertainties from global QCD analysis, JHEP 0207 (2002) 012, [hep-ph/0201195].

- [32] A. Gil, J. Segura, and N. M. Temme, Algorithm 939: Computation of the Marcum Q-Function, ACM Trans. Math. Softw. 40 (2014) 20.
- [33] C. Amole, M. Ardid, et. al., Dark Matter Search Results from the PICO-2L C<sub>3</sub>F<sub>8</sub> Bubble Chamber, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 231302, [arXiv:1503.00008].
- [34] C. Amole, M. Ardid, et. al., Dark Matter Search Results from the PICO-60 CF\_3I Bubble Chamber, arXiv:1510.07754.
- [35] J. M. Cline, K. Kainulainen, P. Scott, and C. Weniger, Update on scalar singlet dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 055025, [arXiv:1306.4710].
- [36] ANTARES Collaboration: S. Adrián-Martínez, A. Albert, et. al., Limits on Dark Matter Annihilation in the Sun using the ANTARES Neutrino Telescope, ArXiv e-prints (2016) [arXiv:1603.02228].
- [37] M. M. Boliev, S. V. Demidov, S. P. Mikheyev, and O. V. Suvorova, Search for muon signal from dark matter annihilations in the Sun with the Baksan Underground Scintillator Telescope for 24.12 years, JCAP 9 (2013) 19, [arXiv:1301.1138].
- [38] C. Savage, A. Scaffidi, M. White, and A. G. Williams, LUX likelihood and limits on spin-independent and spin-dependent WIMP couplings with LUXCalc, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 103519, [arXiv:1502.02667].
- [39] LUX Collaboration: D. Akerib et. al., First results from the LUX dark matter experiment at the Sanford Underground Research Facility, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 (2014) 091303, [arXiv:1310.8214].
- [40] H. Silverwood, P. Scott, et. al., Sensitivity of IceCube-DeepCore to neutralino dark matter in the MSSM-25, JCAP 3 (2013) 27, [arXiv:1210.0844].
- [41] LUX Collaboration: D. S. Akerib, H. M. Araújo, et. al., First spin-dependent WIMP-nucleon cross section limits from the LUX experiment, ArXiv e-prints (2016) [arXiv:1602.03489].
- [42] http://gambit.hepforge.org.

	Excl. $(\% CL)$	100.0	100.0	99.4	92.1	76.6	94.0	99.5	98.1	99.7	79.1	95.6		0.0	5.2	0.0	0.0	13.5	6.5	18.0
ls shown in Fig. 8.	Dominant annihilation final states (contributions <1% not shown)	$ au^{+} au^{-}$ (59%), $bb$ (16%), $car{c}$ (14%), $gg$ (10%), $Z\gamma$ (1%)	$ au^{+} au^{-}$ (71%), $bar{b}$ (14%), $car{c}$ (6%), $gg$ (5%), $Z\gamma$ (3%), $\gamma\gamma$ (1%)	$W^+W^-$ (85%), $ au^+ au^-$ (12%), $ZZ$ (3%)	$ au^+ au^-$ (93%), $W^+W^-$ (5%), $ZZ$ (2%)	$W^+W^-~(53\%),~ZZ~(30\%),~bar{b}~(14\%),~Zh~(2\%)$	$W^+W^- \; (62\%), \; ZZ \; (35\%), \; Zh \; (2\%), \; bar{b} \; (1\%)$	$W^+W^-$ (52%), ZZ (36%), Zh (7%), bb (4%), $\tau^+\tau^-$ (1%)	$W^+W^-$ (53%), ZZ (37%), Zh (6%), bb (2%), $\tau^+\tau^-$ (1%)	$W^+W^-$ (51%), ZZ (39%), Zh (5%), bb (3%), $\tau^+\tau^-$ (2%)	$tar{t}$ (52%), $W^+W^-$ (25%), $ZZ$ (19%), $Zh$ (3%), $gg$ (1%)	$W^+W^-$ (46%), ZZ (37%), $b\bar{b}$ (12%), $\tau^+\tau^-$ (3%), Zh (2%),	gg~(1%)	$gg~(64\%),~ au^+ au^-~(18\%),~bb~(16\%),~\gamma\gamma~(2\%)$	$W^+W^-$ (44%), ZZ (35%), $W^{\pm}H^{\mp}$ (16%), $A^0h$ (3%), $Z\gamma$ (1%)	$bar{b}$ (69%), $tar{t}$ (17%), $ au^+ au^-$ (13%), $Zh$ (1%)	$W^+W^-$ (51%), ZZ (42%), $W^{\pm}H^{\mp}$ (6%), $A^0h$ (1%), $Z\gamma$ (1%)	$W^+W^-$ (51%), ZZ (37%), Zh (6%), $t\bar{t}$ (4%), Z $\gamma$ (1%)	$ \begin{array}{l} W^+W^- \left( 35\% \right),  ZZ \left( 29\% \right),  W^\pm H^\mp \left( 20\% \right),  A^0 h \left( 5\% \right),  Zh \left( 4\% \right), \\ ZH \left( 3\% \right),  A^0 H \left( 3\% \right),  t \overline{t} \left( 1\% \right) \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c} W^+W^{-(N)}_{-(20\%)}, W^{\pm}H^{\mp}_{-(27\%)}, ZZ (20\%), A^0h (7\%), t\bar{t} (5\%), \\ Zh (4\%), A^0H (3\%), ZH (3\%), b\bar{b} (1\%) \end{array} $
ark model	$A$ $(s^{-1})$	$4.0 \times 10^{23}$	$2.0 \times 10^{23}$	$8.4 \times 10^{22}$	$2.3 \times 10^{22}$	$3.1 \times 10^{22}$	$3.5 \times 10^{22}$	$1.6 \times 10^{22}$	$1.2 \times 10^{22}$	$9.0 \times 10^{21}$	$6.2 \times 10^{21}$	$1.3 \times 10^{21}$		$1.9 \times 10^{14}$	$1.1 \times 10^{18}$	$3.0 \times 10^{14}$	$1.0 \times 10^{17}$	$6.0 \times 10^{18}$	$1.6 \times 10^{18}$	$1.1 \times 10^{19}$
e benchma	C (s <sup>-1</sup> )	$7.9 \times 10^{23}$	$3.9 \times 10^{23}$	$1.7 \times 10^{23}$	$4.5 \times 10^{22}$	$6.2 \times 10^{22}$	$7.1 \times 10^{22}$	$3.2 \times 10^{22}$	$2.4 \times 10^{22}$	$1.8 \times 10^{22}$	$1.2 \times 10^{22}$	$2.6 \times 10^{21}$	ļ	$3.9 \times 10^{17}$	$2.5 \times 10^{18}$	$1.1 \times 10^{17}$	$4.7  imes 10^{17}$	$1.2 \times 10^{19}$	$3.4 \times 10^{18}$	$2.2 \times 10^{19}$
ties of the	$\sigma_{\mathrm{SD}p}^{\prime} \ (\mathrm{cm}^2)$	$1.6 \times 10^{-39}$	$9.3 \times 10^{-40}$	$6.3 \times 10^{-40}$	$1.9 \times 10^{-40}$	$3.3 \times 10^{-40}$	$3.8 \times 10^{-40}$	$2.7~{\times}10^{-40}$	$2.0~\times10^{-40}$	$1.9 \times 10^{-40}$	$1.5 \times 10^{-40}$	$7.0 \times 10^{-41}$		$5.2 \times 10^{-44}$	$2.9 \times 10^{-43}$	$1.7 \times 10^{-44}$	$7.0 \times 10^{-44}$	$1.2 \times 10^{-42}$	$2.2 \times 10^{-43}$	$1.8 \times 10^{-42}$
1: Proper	$\sigma_{{ m SI}p}^{\prime} \ ({ m cm}^2)$	$4.1 \times 10^{-47}$	$5.1 \times 10^{-47}$	$4.0 \times 10^{-48}$	$5.5 \times 10^{-46}$	$5.6 \times 10^{-46}$	$2.2 \times 10^{-46}$	$4.9 \times 10^{-48}$	$1.5 \times 10^{-44}$	$1.3 \times 10^{-45}$	$7.8 \times 10^{-48}$	$3.4 \times 10^{-45}$	ļ	$3.0 \times 10^{-47}$	$4.4 \times 10^{-46}$	$1.8 \times 10^{-47}$	$8.6 \times 10^{-47}$	$2.9 \times 10^{-45}$	$1.1 \times 10^{-45}$	$7.5 \times 10^{-45}$
Table	$\sigma_{{ m SD}p} \ ({ m cm}^2)$	$1.6 \times 10^{-39}$	$1.0 \times 10^{-39}$	$7.4 \times 10^{-40}$	$2.0 \times 10^{-40}$	$4.0 \times 10^{-40}$	$4.0 \times 10^{-40}$	$2.7 \times 10^{-40}$	$2.8 \times 10^{-40}$	$1.9 \times 10^{-40}$	$1.5 \times 10^{-40}$	$7.3 \times 10^{-41}$		$1.4 \times 10^{-43}$	$3.4 \times 10^{-43}$	$1.7 \times 10^{-44}$	$7.9 \times 10^{-44}$	$1.4 \times 10^{-42}$	$2.5 \times 10^{-43}$	2.2 $\times 10^{-42}$
	$\sigma_{{ m SI}p} \ ({ m cm}^2)$	$1.1 \times 10^{-47}$	$5.7 \times 10^{-47}$	$4.7 \times 10^{-48}$ ,	$5.8 \times 10^{-46}$	$3.7 \times 10^{-46}$ ,	$2.4 \times 10^{-46}$	$1.9 \times 10^{-48}$	$2.1 \times 10^{-44}$	$1.3 \times 10^{-45}$	$7.8 \times 10^{-48}$	$3.5 \times 10^{-45}$ ,	i	$8.0 \times 10^{-47}$	$5.2 \times 10^{-46}$	$1.8 \times 10^{-47}$	$0.7 \times 10^{-47}$	$3.4 \times 10^{-45}$	$1.2 \times 10^{-45}$	$8.7 \times 10^{-45}$
	$\Omega h^2$	0.123 4	0.109	0.103 4	0.115	0.101 (	0.114 2	0.123 4	0.086 2	0.121	0.121	0.116 3		0.046 8	0.100	0.064	0.106	0.102	0.109	0.103 8
	$\langle \sigma v \rangle \\ ^{-3  \mathrm{s} - 1})$	$\times 10^{-28}$	$\times 10^{-28}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-27}$	0	$\times 10^{-29}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-28}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-26}$	$\times 10^{-26}$
	v V) (cm	7.8 4.2	5.3 6.4	5.6 1.6	2.9 1.9	5.6  2.0	5.6  1.7	7.5 1.8	9.0  2.6	8.1 1.7	5.9 1.7	5.4 5.7		9.4  2.9	1.6 1.4	$9.1 \ 4.3$	1.3 1.0	8.2 1.0	7.6 1.2	3.7 1.5
	(Ge	6	71	<i>і</i> б	$10'_{10}$	11(	11(	14'	149	165	17!	27!		362	.76	101	103.	1078	115'	121: